IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DOMONIC MALONE

Appellant,

VS.

Electronically Filed Jan 14 2013 04:00 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

THE STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

Docket No. 61006

Direct Appeal From A Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Michael Villani, District Judge District Court No. C224572

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Whether the district court violated Malone's constitutional rights by revoking his right of self-representation without legitimate cause.
 - B. Whether the district court erred in instructing the jury.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 2, 2006, the State charged Appellant Domonic Malone and Jason McCarty with numerous offenses involved with the deaths of Charlotte Compado and Victoria Magee. Malone was charged as follows: Count 1 - First Degree Kidnapping (Melissa Estores); Count 2 - Battery with Substantial Bodily Harm (Estores); Count 3 - Conspiracy To Commit Kidnapping (Estores); Count 4 - First Degree Kidnapping (Estores); Count 5 - Battery With Substantial Bodily Harm (Estores); Count 6 -

Robbery (Estores); Count 7 - Conspiracy to Commit Kidnapping (Estores, Combado and/or Magee); Count 8 - Pandering (Combado); Count 9 - Pandering (Magee); Count 10 - Conspiracy to Commit Murder; Count 11 - Conspiracy to Commit Burglary; Count 12 - Burglary (Leonard Robinson); Count 13 - First Degree Kidnapping (Combado); Count 14 - First Degree Kidnapping (Magee); Count 15 - Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Combado); Count 16 - Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Magee); Count 17 - Robbery With Use of A Deadly Weapon (Combado); and Count 18 - Robbery With Use of A Deadly Weapon (Magee). 1 App. 1-8. Both Malone and McCarty entered pleas of not guilty to the State's charges. 1 App. 12-13. On August 30, 2006, the State filed an Amended Information, which charged the same offenses as the original Information. 1 App. 46-53.

On August 30, 2006, the State filed its Notice of Intent to Seek Death Penalty against Malone and alleged 13 aggravating circumstances. 1 App. 17-28.

McCarty filed a motion to sever his trial from Malone's trial. 1 App. 54. The State opposed the motion. 1 App. 72. Malone also filed a motion to sever and joined in McCarty's motion. 1 App. 92, 116. The State opposed Malone's motion. 1 App. 153. Following argument from counsel, the district court initially denied the motions to sever. 2 App. 218, 239.

Malone filed a motion to federalize all motions, objections and other

applications. 2 App. 262. The State opposed the motion. 2 App. 320. The district court denied the motion. 2 App. 396, 413.

The trial date was vacated and postponed on several occasions. See 19 App. 3782 (establishing an initial trial date of January 8, 2007); 3790-93 (trial date postponed until August 13, 2007, because of scheduling conflicts with a prosecuting attorney and McCarty's counsel); 3796 (over Malone's objection, trial date postponed until March 17, 2008, because of scheduling conflicts with a prosecuting attorney and McCarty's counsel), 3802 (trial date postponed until August 4, 2008, because of scheduling conflicts with McCarty's counsel); 3813 (over Malone's objection, trial date postponed because of scheduling conflicts with McCarty's counsel); 3815 (over Malone's objection, a new trial date of January 5, 2009, is set and district court admonishes counsel that this matter will proceed to trial on that date regardless of any other trial settings); 3822 (trial date vacated because of scheduling conflict with McCarty's counsel, new date of October 12, 2009, established). On October 12, 2009, the trial date was vacated because of a family emergency involving counsel for McCarty. 19 App. 3838. The trial was rescheduled April 5, 2010, and a secondary trial date of October 11, 2010, was also given. 5 App. 881-82, 19 App. 3840-41.

Several proceedings were held concerning Malone's motions to dismiss his counsel. Ultimately, the district court conducted a Faretta canvass and allowed

Malone to represent himself, but then the district court, over Malone's objection, revoked that decision and appointed the Special Public Defender's Office to represent him. These matters are discussed in detail below.

On March 18, 2010, at a time when Malone represented himself, McCarty filed a renewed motion to sever based upon the district court's order allowing Malone to represent himself. 5 App. 929. The State opposed the motion. 5 App. 1042. On March 25, 2010, during a hearing concerning scheduling, over Malone's objection, the April trial date was vacated and the trial was set for October, 2010, because of medical problems with Malone's stand-by counsel. 5 App. 1014-16; 19 App. 3851.

On April 13, 2010, the district court heard argument from counsel on the severance motion. 5 App. 1094. The issue was addressed again on April 29, 2010. 5 App. 1106. The district court severed the trials. 5 App. 1106-07. The trials were ordered to go back to back, with McCarty's trial first, with an October 2010, trial date. 5 App. 1108. Malone's trial was scheduled to follow McCarty's trial, with a tentative date of November 1, 2010. 6 App. 1233; 19 App. 3870.

On October 26, 2010, Malone, his stand-by counsel, and the State appeared

¹McCarty was convicted of Counts 3 through 17, which included two counts of first degree murder. 6 App. 1287. He received the death penalty for the two murder convictions and various other terms for the remaining offenses. 6 App. 1290-91. His direct appeal remains pending before this Court in Docket No. 58101.

before the district court for Calendar Call. 6 App. 1259. All parties were ready to proceed with the trial. 6 App. 1259-60. Over Malone's objection, the case was continued until June, 2011. 6 App. 1262. Malone stated that he was ready to go, he had being doing research in the legal library, and he had reviewed the evidence code. 6 App. 1266. On November 23, 2010, a new trial date of January 9, 2012, was established. 19 App. 3876.

Calendar Call was held on January 3, 2012. 7 App. 1481. Trial began on January 10, 2012. 19 App. 3888. The jury was selected on January 13, 2012.²

Malone filed written objections to the State's proposed jury instructions. 14 App. 2971. Details are discussed below. Oral objections were entered on the record and are also discussed below. 17 App. 3408.

At the end of the State's case, on January 30, 2012, the State filed a Third Amended Information. 17 App. 3398. Malone was charged as follows: Count 1 - Battery with Substantial Bodily Harm (Melissa Estores); Count 2 - Conspiracy To Commit Kidnapping (Estores); Count 3 - First Degree Kidnapping (Estores); Count 4 - Battery With Substantial Bodily Harm (Estores); Count 5 - Robbery (Estores); Count 6 - Pandering (Magee); Count 7 - Conspiracy to Commit Burglary; Count 8 -

²Issues concerning jury selection are not presented in this appeal. The transcripts of jury selection have been omitted from the appendix.

Conspiracy to Commit Kidnapping (Combado and/or Magee); Count 9 - Conspiracy to Commit Murder; Count 10 - Burglary; Count 11 - First Degree Kidnapping (Combado); Count 12 - First Degree Kidnapping (Magee); Count 13 - Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Combado); Count 14 - Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Magee); Count 15 - Robbery With Use of A Deadly Weapon (Combado); and Count 16 - Robbery With Use of A Deadly Weapon (Magee). 17 App. 3398-3404. The jury began deliberations at 3:11 p.m. on January 31, 2012. 17 App. 3624.

During deliberations, the jurors submitted several notes to the district court. A juror asked for clarification of instruction #24, concerning burglary, and was instructed that "The Court is not at liberty to supplement the jury instructions." 18 App. 3693. A juror asked the following: Instruction #3, page 3, count 7 lines 4 & 5 contradict Instruction #8, can we get further instruction because we can not agree which one to follow?" 18 App. 3694. The Court answered "The jury is instructed to look at all instructions as a whole." 18 App. 3694.

On February 1, 2012, the jury returned its verdict. 18 App. 3634. The jury found Malone guilty of Count 1 - Battery with Substantial Bodily Harm; Count 2 - Conspiracy To Commit Kidnapping; Count 3 - First Degree Kidnapping; Count 4 - Battery; Count 7 - Conspiracy to Commit Burglary; Count 8 - Conspiracy to Commit Kidnapping; Count 9 - Conspiracy to Commit Murder; Count 11 - First Degree

Kidnapping; Count 12 - First Degree Kidnapping; Count 13 - Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Combado) (with special verdict noting unanimous verdicts that the murder was wilful, deliberate and premeditated; the murder was committed during the perpetration of a kidnapping; and the murder was committed during the perpetration of robbery); Count 14 - Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Magee) (with special verdict noting unanimous verdicts that the murder was wilful, deliberate and premeditated; the murder was committed during the perpetration of a kidnapping; and the murder was committed during the perpetration of robbery); Count 15 - Robbery With Use of A Deadly Weapon; and Count 16 - Robbery With Use of A Deadly Weapon. 18 App. 3635-37, 3646-51. The jury found Malone not guilty of Count 5 - Robbery; Count 6 - Pandering; and Count 10 - Burglary. 18 App. 3635, 3647-48.

On February 10, 2012, the jury returned its verdicts for the penalty phase. 18 App. 3704. For each of the two murder counts, the jury found the following aggravating circumstances: (1) prior violent felony of battery with intent to commit a crime; (2) prior violent felony of battery with substantial bodily harm; (3) prior violent felony of first degree kidnapping; (4) murder in the course of a kidnapping; (5) murder in the course of a kidnapping; (6) murder in the course of a robbery; (7) murder in the course of a robbery; (8) the defendant was convicted of more than one offense of murder in the immediate proceeding. 18 App. 3705-06, 3710-12, 3718-21,

3731-34. The jury did not find a proposed aggravating circumstance that the murder was committed to receive money or any other thing of monetary value. 18 App. 3706, 3711, 3721, 3733. The jury found all 32 mitigators proposed by defense counsel. 18 App. 3707-09, 3712-14, 3721, 3734-39. The jury also found two additional mitigators. 18 App. 3709, 3714, 3727, 3739. The jury found that the mitigators did not outweigh the aggravators, but imposed sentences of life without the possibility of parole. 18 App. 3709, 3714, 3729, 3741-42.

On May 24, 2012, Malone filed a proper person motion for a new trial. 18 App. 3743. The district court declined to consider the motion because it was not filed by counsel. 18 App. 3745.

The sentencing hearing was held on April 24, 2012. 18 App. 3751. The district court imposed four consecutive terms of life without the possibility of parole for the two convictions for murder with use of a deadly weapon and various other consecutive terms on the other counts. 18 App. 3767-70.

The judgment of conviction was filed on May 8, 2012. 18 App. 3772. A timely notice of appeal was filed on June 5, 2012. 18 App. 3777. This Opening Brief now follows.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On May 20, 2006, the unclothed bodies of Victoria Magee and Charlotte Combado were found in a desert area, near the I-95 highway between Henderson and Boulder City. The bodies had stab wounds and showed blunt force trama. The State alleged that Domonic Malone and Jason McCarty killed the two women. Malone entered a plea of not guilty to the charges and asserted that he was not responsible for the deaths of the two women.

Magee and Combado were associated with McCarty. Magee was addicted to crack cocaine and she was a prostitute. 8 App. 1559-60; 9 App. 1877. Combado sold drugs to earn money. 8 App. 1557-58. She primarily used methamphetamine. 8 App. 1559. McCarty was Magee's pimp and he supplied drugs to Combado, which she often sold on commission. 12 App. 2497-98.

Magee, Combado and McCarty often operated out of the Sportsman's Royal Manor on Boulder Highway, in Las Vegas. 8 App. 1557-58. Melissa Estores also stayed at the Sportsman's. 8 App. 1557. Estores considered herself to be a hustler, and would do whatever it took to make money, including selling stolen items and selling crack and methamphetamine.³ 8 App. 1554, 1670, 1673-75. She used weed,

³At the time of trial, Estores was on parole for an offense involving a financial forgery laboratory. She also has a felony conviction for unauthorized possession of a credit card. 8 App. 1552, 1664. She is a boxer and boxed in the Golden Gloves.

alcohol, and methamphetamine. 8 App. 1670-72. Estores was sometimes involved in a relationship with Malone. 8 App. 1702-05. She had sold drugs that he fronted to her, but she considered herself to be a "free agent." 8 App. 1555, 1562, 1675. She sometimes received her supply of drugs from Trey Black. 9 App. 1880.

McCarty and Malone were acquaintances. 12 App. 2499, 2558. They both sold drugs and hung out at the Sportsman's, but they did not work for each other and did not share money. 12 App. 2599; 15 App. 3109-10. McCarty was close friends with Donald Herb. 11 App. 2437, 2466; 12 App. 2591; 15 App. 2993. Herb sold drugs with McCarty, they formerly lived together for over two years, and they talked daily. 11 App. 2437, 12 App. 2491, 2588-90; 15 App. 3109-10. They were so close that Herb gave McCarty his new car to drive, while keeping his older and run-down car for himself, because it was less expensive for Herb than renting a car for McCarty to use. 11 App. 2441; 12 App. 2489-91, 2591. McCarty and Herb used and sold

⁸ App. 1669. She has beat men. 8 App. 1669. She has tattoos on her knuckles that state "game over." 8 App. 1669. She has a tear drop tattoo on her eye which stood for Make Money Millionaires, which was for her membership in a group of hustlers from California. 8 App. 1689. Estores acknowledged that she had difficulty keeping things straight in her head and had some issues with her memories, especially with timelines. 8 App. 1701. She agreed that she lied to police officers when she told them that she was a stay at home mom. 8 App. 1677. She also lied at the preliminary hearing when she testified that she could not read and about the nature of her familial relationships. 8 App. 1679-80. Several other inconsistencies appeared in her testimony at trial and her statements to the police, as well as her testimony at McCarty's trial. 8 App. 1685-87.

drugs together. 12 App. 2558-59, 2589. McCarty has Cerebral Palsy and had limited use of one arm. 8 App. 1585.

The State alleged that in April of 2006, Malone battered Estores outside of the Sportsman's following an argument over their relationship. 8 App. 1705; 8 App. 1565-67. Estores claimed that Malone said she owed money to Black and also owed money to him, but she denied owing the money. 8 App. 1570. Estores claimed that Malone pulled off her jewelry and threw it into the nearby pool. 8 App. 1572. She then claimed that Malone repeatedly hit her and kicked her in the head. 8 App. 1572-73. She believed the problem between the two of them did not involve money, but was about their personal relationship. 8 App. 1707. Estores claimed at trial that she received extensive injuries as a result of the confrontation, but did not stay at the hospital because they were going to make a police report.⁴ 8 App. 1575-76. About a week later, she renewed her working relationship with Malone. 8 App. 1577. They also had sex once after this incident and did not have any additional problems until the middle of May, 2006. 8 App. 1578.

The State claimed that on May 16, 2006, Estores met Combado at the Sportsman's. 8 App. 1579, 1718. Estores was selling drugs, while Combado was

⁴The jury found Malone guilty of the lesser included offense of battery, but did not find that Estores suffered substantial bodily harm. 18 App. 3635, 3646.

gambling with money that she owed for drugs. 8 App. 1581-82, 1722; 9 App. 1754. Estores helped Combado sell some drugs to earn some of the money, but Combado continued to gamble the money. 8 App. 1582, 1722. McCarty arrived that morning and talked with Estores and Combado. 8 App. 1587. Malone was not present. 8 App. 1728.

Estores, Combado and McCarty left the Sportsman's, in Herb's green car, and went to the Oasis Motel. 8 App. 1590-91. Malone was not present. 9 App. 1739. Estores claimed that McCarty agreed to pay Combado \$150 if she would get Magee to come to the motel because Magee owed McCarty \$80. 8 App. 1595-97; 9 App. 1744, 1756. Christina and McCarty left the hotel room. 8 App. 1598; 9 App. 1745. Later, Estores looked out the motel window and saw Combado walking with her arm around Magee. 8 App. 1599; 9 App. 1757. Estores left the hotel room, met McCarty, smoked a blunt (marijuana rolled in a cigar wraper) and discussed a business relationship wherein Estores would sell drugs for McCarty. 8 App. 1599-1600, 1611; 9 App. 1762-63, 1817-18.

Ultimately, Estores, McCarty, Combado, Magee, Malone and Herb met at the Sahara Hotel and drove away in Herb's green car. 8 App. 1605; 9 App. 1772; 12 App. 2502. They drove to Herb's house and dropped him off. 8 App. 1607; 9 App. 1777. The others drove to the Sportsman's. 8 App. 1609. There was a lot of anger

from McCarty and Magee seemed scared. 8 App. 1609. Malone was quiet and did not say anything. 8 App. 1610. There were no issues between Estores and Malone. 8 App. 1610. Combado seemed happy about the fact that she was in charge of Magee. 9 App. 1790.

At the Sportsman's, McCarty, Combado, and Magee got out of the car. 8 App. 1610; 9 App. 1784. Magee was to meet a trick and then she was to give the money to McCarty. 8 App. 1610; 9 App. 1785. Malone did not say anything to Magee. 8 App. 1786. Malone and Estores sat in the car and casually talked for about half an hour or 45 minutes. 9 App. 1786. They talked about his baby mama, his belief that Estores gave him a sexually transmitted disease, and their relationship. 8 App. 1611; 9 App. 1784, 1787. Estores did not believe she gave him an STD. 8 App. 1611. They discussed the fact that she was in love with Nino and Malone wanting to have a relationship with her. 9 App. 1788. She told him that she was a free agent and did not want to be his girlfriend. 8 App. 1612; 9 App. 1789. This made Malone emotionally upset. 8 App. 1612; 9 App. 1789. Estores and Malone discussed McCarty's offer to do business with her. 8 App. 1612. At trial she could not recall most of the conversation, but she remembers that he was not happy. 8 App. 1613.

Combado, Magee, and McCarty returned to the car. 8 App. 1613; 9 App. 1789.

McCarty said they were going to his house or his mom's house. 8 App. 1614. As

they drove south on Boulder Highway, McCarty and Magee were arguing. 8 App. 1615. Malone was quiet during the drive and was not happy. 9 App. 1792. Estores claimed that McCarty hit her while they were in the car, grabbed her hair and held her down.⁵ 8 App. 1615; 9 App. 1792. McCarty drove the car on the freeway, towards Henderson. 8 App. 1615. He stopped the car near a model home at a construction site. 8 App. 1616. McCarty said that he wanted to talk to Magee and said Malone wanted to talk to Estores. 8 App. 1618; 9 App. 1797. Estores claimed that she again discussed her relationships with Malone and Nino, and that Malone then put his arms around her and started hitting her. 8 App. 1798; 9 App. 1798. She claimed that she fell to the ground and that Malone stood on her head with one foot and kicked her in the back of the head with the other.⁶ 8 App. 1520; 9 App. 1798. Estores got back in the car and saw that Magee was crying. 8 App. 1622. She was red from being hit in the head. 8 App. 1622; 9 App. 1803. The fight between McCarty and Magee was unrelated to the fight between Estores and Malone. 9 App. 1805. Estores claimed

⁵She did not make this claim at the preliminary hearing. 9 App. 1795.

⁶Photos taken by the police of her injuries, which were admitted at trial, did not include a photo of the back of her head. 9 App. 1800. She did not seek any medical attention for injuries to the back of her head. 9 App. 1803.

that Malone threw items from Estores's purse out the window as they drove. App. 1624.

During the early morning of May 17th, they all drove toward the Hard Rock Hotel. 8 App. 1626; 9 App. 1806. On the way, McCarty told Magee to go out and perform oral sex on someone who was sitting at a bus stop. 9 App. 1807. Malone did not say anything to Magee. 9 App. 1809. Estores and Malone were not involved in that matter. 9 App. 1809. The situation that was going on between Estores and Malone was completely separate and apart from what was going on between McCarty, Magee, and Combado, other than the fact that they were all in the same car. 9 App. 1809.

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