1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA				
2					
3	-	Floatronically Filed			
4	DOMONIA MANONE	Electronically Filed Apr 09 2013 10:58 a.m			
5	DOMONIC MALONE,	Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Cou			
6	Appellant,	Case No. 61006			
7	V.				
8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,				
9	Respondent.				
10	RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF				
11	Appeal From Judg Eighth Judicial Distric	ment of Conviction ct Court, Clark County			
12	Lighth dualetar District	ct court, chark county			
13	JONELL THOMAS Deputy Special Public Defender	STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney			
14	Nevada Bar #004771 RANDALL H. PIKE	Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center

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

Generally, a criminal defendant has the right to self-representation under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and the Nevada Constitution. See U.S. Const. amend. VI; Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 818-19, 95 S.Ct. 2525 (1975); Nev. Const. art. 1, § 8, cl. 1. Where an accused chooses to self-represent, he must satisfy the court that his waiver of the right to counsel is knowing and voluntary. Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835, 95 S.Ct. 2525; Vanisi, 117 Nev. 330 at 337-38, 22 P.3d at 1169-70 (2001).

A court may deny a request for self-representation if the request is untimely, equivocal, or made for purpose of delay. <u>Vanissi</u>, 117 Nev. at 338, 22 P.3d at 1170. Additionally, such a request may be denied where a defendant has proven to be disruptive or obstructive to the judicial process. <u>Id</u>. at 340, 22 P.3d at 1171. While an accused has the right to conduct his own defense, that right does not give a prose defendant license to abuse the dignity of the courtroom or to not comply with relevant rules of procedural and substantive law. <u>Id</u>. (<u>citing to Faretta</u>, 422 U.S. at 835 n. 46, 95 S.Ct. 2525). Finally, although the complexity of the case and fair-trial concerns cannot constitute an independent basis for denial of a motion for self-representation, they are relevant factors for the court to consider. <u>Id</u>. at 341, 22 P.3d at 1172.

It is also well recognized that, *after* the motion to proceed pro se has been granted, a defendant may, by virtue of his conduct, indicate abandonment or withdrawal of a request for self-representation. McKaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168, 182, 104 S. Ct. 944, 953 (1984) (stating that "[e]ven when he insists that he is not waiving his Faretta rights," an invitation, acquiescence, or solicitation of certain types of participation by standby counsel undermines protestations that counsel interfered); see also Faretta, 422 U.S. at 834 n.46, 95 S. Ct. at 2541 n.46; Brown v. Wainwright 665 F.2d 607 (5th Cir.1982); People v. Kenner, 223 Cal. App. 3d 56, 62, 272 Cal. Rptr. 551 (Ct. App. 1990).

6

8 9

10 11

13

14

12

15

16

17 18

19

20

21

22 23

24 25

26

27 28

In Wainwright, the Fifth Circuit majority, sitting en banc, squarely held that after a defendant has asserted the right of self-representation, a waiver may be found if it reasonably appears from the conduct of the defendant that he has abandoned his request to represent himself. Id. at 611. Comparing the right of selfrepresentation and the right to counsel, the majority in Brown reasoned that the relinquishment of the right to proceed pro se is a far easier matter than waiver of the right to counsel. The majority explained:

> The important distinction in the manner in which the two rights come into play requires that a different waiver analysis be applied to the right of self-representation than to the right to counsel. Unlike the right to counsel, the right of self-representation can be waived by defendant's mere failure to assert it. If on arraignment an indigent defendant stands mute, neither requesting counsel nor asserting the right of self-representation, an attorney must be appointed. Even if defendant requests to represent himself however the right may be waived represent himself, however, the right may be waived through defendant's subsequent conduct indicating he is vacillating on the issue or has abandoned his request altogether. [Citations.] ... [¶] The right of self-representation, then, is waived if not asserted, while the right to counsel is not. Since the right of self-representation is waived more easily than the right to counsel at the outset, before assertion, it is reasonable to conclude it is more easily waived [than\_the right to counsel] at a later point, after assertion. Therefore, ... stringent requirements for waiver of counsel ... do not apply in full force to the right of self-representation. A waiver may be found if it reasonably appears to the court that defendant has abandoned his initial request to represent himself.

Id. at 610–611 (emphasis added). Other courts have similarly held that a defendant's vacillating positions on a request to continue self-representation constitute a waiver of the right to proceed pro se. See, e.g., United States v. Bennett, 539 F.2d 45, 51 (10th Cir. 1976); Meeks v. Craven, 482 F.2d 465, 467-68 (9th Cir.); United States ex rel. Maldonado v. Denno, 348 F.2d 12, 15-16 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 384 U.S. 1007, 86 S.Ct. 1950. While "personal dialogue" between the court and the defendant may be advisable to determine whether there is a waiver,

no such inquiry is necessary where the circumstances indicate vacillation or abandonment. Wainwright, 665 F.2d at 611-612.

## C. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion by Revoking Appellant's Asserted Right to Self-Representation

During the year-and-a-half time in which Appellant represented himself, he repeatedly equivocated as to his decision to self-represent and, on more than one occasion, accused the court of denying him his right to appointed representation. This conduct alone established the reasonable appearance that Appellant abandoned his initial request to represent himself, and justified the district court's subsequent revocation of that request. Moreover, Appellant's equivocal comments made after the <a href="Faretta">Faretta</a> hearing should not entitle him to place the lower court in a position of committing error no matter which way the trial court rules. The State submits that this Court ought not to countenance the abuse of the right to self-representation by allowing Appellant to inject such error into the record and manufacture issues on appeal. Finally, Appellant engaged in a disruptive and obstructive pattern of conduct that resulted in a continued delay of the prosecution of his case, providing additional grounds for the district court to revoke Appellant's pro se status. For each of these reasons, Appellant's claim must fail.

#### 1. Relevant Facts

### Appellant's Statements of Equivocation and Obstructive Conduct

The <u>Faretta</u> Canvass hearing was held on January 8, 2010. 5 AA 893. After canvassing Appellant, the district court found that he had knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to counsel, granted Appellant's request to proceed pro se, and appointed Appellant's former counsel as stand by. 5 AA 916-918. Immediately afterwards, Appellant sought a continuance of the trial date, to which the State objected as grounds to deny Appellant's request to self-represent. 5 AA 924-925. The court explained to Appellant that an untimely request constitutes grounds for denial, and Appellant ultimately stated he would be ready to go to trial in April without counsel. 5 AA 926.

On March 25, 2010, when discussing the upcoming calendar call, Appellant interrupted the court and expressed a clear desire for an attorney, stating: "I did [sic] would like my counsel back." 5 AA 1011. However, when the court asked if he was now waiving his right to represent himself, Appellant equivocated, stating "at this point in time," he did not necessarily want stand-by counsel reappointed. 5 AA 1012. In light of Appellant's equivocation, and because one of Appellant's stand-by attorneys would not be available for the upcoming April trial date in the event that Appellant requested counsel be reappointed, the court continued the trial to October of 2010. 5 AA 1013-1016. Appellant lodged his objection to the court's ruling, stating he was ready to go to trial. 5 AA 1015-1016.

At the calendar call six months later, Appellant stated he was not ready for trial and he had not yet noticed his witnesses. 6 AA 1214, 1217. Notably, at a status check hearing only one month prior, the district court informed Appellant that the October trial was fast approaching and reiterated that he must be ready to go forward at that time. 6 AA 1193-1194. Ultimately, McCarty's counsel announced ready and the district court, having already severed the defendants' trials, ordered that trial for McCarty would go forward on October 12, 2010. 6 AA 1223-1225.

At a November 18, 2010, hearing on Appellant's Motions to Dismiss for Prosecutorial Misconduct, Appellant refused to be transported to court, requiring the court to continue the matter. RA 9-15. Appellant was subsequently admonished for his refusal to appear and the delay that it caused. RA 14.

On January 8, 2011, Appellant filed a pro per Motion to Dismiss Stand-By Counsel without attaching any points and authorities in support of his motion. 6 AA 1278. On January 25, 2011, the district court again admonished Appellant for failing to follow the rules of the court and advised Appellant that continued abuse of the rules would result in appointment of stand-by counsel. 6 AA 1285-1286.

Also on January 25, 2011, Appellant once again shifted his position regarding his decision to self-represent. In this instance, Appellant accused the district court of "den[ying] [him] the right to have representation," claiming that "during my Faretta hearing I had asked for, you know what I'm saying, counsel and stuff like that." 6 AA 1282. Moreover, Appellant again implied that he *might* invoke his right to counsel at some point before trial, but explained that he did not want the Special Public Defender's Office appointed "if this was to get to the point where I need not no longer represent myself." 6 AA 1282. When the court denied Appellant's motion to remove the special public defenders as stand-by counsel (which Appellant ostensibly filed in order to have different counsel appointed when he later withdrew his request to self-represent), Appellant asked the court: "So you're telling me today you're denying me the right to have representation?" 6 AA 1286.

On June 29, 2011, Appellant filed a pleading entitled "Ex Parte Communication (Defendant Memorandum to Court)". 7 AA 1348. Therein, Appellant once again claimed that he had "been forced to represent himself," that he "did not want to represent himself," and that he had "always been more than willing to accept proper assistance." 7 AA 1349. Based upon Appellant's representations, the court revoked Appellant's request to self-represent. See 7 AA 1455 (THE COURT: "Sir, if you feel you have been forced to represent yourself and there's – and that you did not want to represent yourself, your request to represent yourself is now vacated or is denied."). The court then appointed the Special Public Defender, currently stand-by counsel, to represent Appellant once again. 7 AA 1455. During a subsequent discussion with Appellant, the following exchange took place:

THE COURT: Sir, your pleadings [sic] very clear. The Defendant did not want to represent himself in this matter.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Okay. Your wish is granted, sir.

#### 7 AA 1456.

Even *after* the court reappointed counsel based on Appellant's requests for assistance, Appellant *again* equivocated, filing a Motion to Withdraw Counsel. 7 AA 1460. This final equivocation prompted the court to highlight the vagaries of Appellant's position and the delay it has caused the proceedings:

And, sir, I think you've been playing games because I gave you the Faretta Canvassing. You were absolutely clear what you wanted to do.... [¶] Then a couple of months ago I get a letter from you saying you never wanted to do it and you were forced which again is utterly ridiculous because I personally gave credit and I painstakingly went over every question and then a couple of months – and some months ago, you play this game saying oh, I didn't really want to do this. Someone forced me to do this. And that's just ridiculous.

#### 7 AA 1467.

Ultimately, Appellant went to trial with counsel, was convicted, and subsequently spared the death penalty, being sentenced only to Life Without Parole for his crimes.

## b. Effects of Appellant's Equivocations on the Underlying Proceedings

The ambiguity of Appellant's resolve to self-represent can also be seen in the effects it had on arguments made by the State and in rulings by the district court. For instance, Appellant's equivocation created confusion in the proceedings that led to severance of the underlying trial, as neither the court nor the State knew whether Appellant wanted counsel appointed. On April 13, 2010, the district court heard defendant McCarty's renewed motion to sever, which was based on Appellant's recently acquired pro se status. 5 AA 1100. There, the State argued that "it's bad policy to let two Defendants sever themselves by one Defendant taking a Faretta Canvas particularly a Defendant who's already said I'm most likely going to take my counsel back." 5 AA 1100 (emphasis added).

The district court echoed this uncertainty when granting McCarty's motion to sever: "I think because of the problem with Mr. Malone, I don't know if he's playing games here. At the last minute he's going to say he wants the Special PD

to represent him or not, but due to the nature of this case I think we're going to prevent some problems by severing this." 5 AA 1106. Appellant's many equivocations caused the district court to repeatedly question whether Appellant was "playing games" with his pro se status, only to demand counsel just before trial. See, e.g., 6 AA 1181 ("I don't know if you're playing a game or at the last minute at Calendar Call you're going to say well, I want, you know, I want real attorneys."); 7 AA 1467. Ultimately, the court's concerns were well-founded, as Appellant conveyed an express desire for assistance in his "Ex Parte Communication" in the buildup to trial.

## 2. Appellant's Conduct Constituted an Abandonment of His Initial Request to Proceed Pro Se and a Renewed Request to Appoint Counsel

As noted, <u>supra</u>, where a pro se defendant's conduct indicates an abandonment of his initial request to represent himself, the court may consider the conduct a waiver of that request and reappoint counsel. Here, Appellant's conduct, including his repeated equivocations and the "Ex Parte Communication" in which he explicitly requests assistance, constituted an abandonment of his <u>Faretta</u> waiver and a renewed request for counsel. Accordingly, the reappointment of counsel was within the district court's discretion, and the court did not abuse that discretion by reappointing the Special Public Defenders.

First, Appellant's "Ex Parte Communication," filed June 29, 2011, constituted an explicit abandonment of his <u>Faretta</u> waiver and a request to appoint counsel. Therein, Appellant repeated his common accusations that he had "been forced to represent himself," explicitly stated that he "did not want to represent himself," and acknowledged that he had "always been more than willing to accept proper assistance." 7 AA 1349. Based in part on these representations, the district court found that Appellant had abandoned his request to self-represent and was asking the court to appoint counsel. 7 AA 1455. Because Appellant requested assistance and no longer wanted to represent himself, the district court was well

28

within its discretion to consider reappointing counsel. <u>See, e.g., People v.</u> <u>Lawrence</u>, 205 P.3d 1062, 1066-67 (Cal. 2009).

Even assuming arguendo that Appellant's "Ex Parte Communication" was not sufficiently explicit to constitute an abandonment of his Faretta waiver in its own right, it certainly constituted an implicit waiver, particularly when viewed in conjunction with Appellant's equivocating conduct during the eighteen-month period of self-representation. As demonstrated above, Appellant repeatedly vacillated on his decision to self-represent. In March of 2010, Appellant told the court he wanted "counsel back," only to then equivocate by saying he did not want counsel "at this point in time," implying that he eventually would withdraw his request to self-represent. 5 AA 1101-1102. In January of 2011, Appellant repeatedly accused the district court of "den[ying] [him] the right to have representation," and again implied he would seek representation before going to trial. 6 AA 1282. When the district court denied his motion to dismiss stand-by counsel, Appellant asked the court: "So you're telling me today you're denying me the right to have representation?" 6 AA 1286. These equivocating statements, in addition to the representations and accusations made in the "Ex Parte Communication," constituted "subsequent conduct indicating [Appellant] is vacillating on the issue." Wainwright, 665 F.2d 610-611. Because this conduct created a reasonable appearance to the court that Appellant was no longer resolved to represent himself, the court did not err in finding that Appellant had waived his request. See Vanisi, 117 Nev. at 340, 22 P.3d at 1171 (in analyzing a defendant's conduct as a pro se litigant, this Court "will not substitute its own evaluation for the district court's personal observations and impressions."). It was therefore within the district court's discretion to reappoint counsel.

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